IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1908

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 2D99-836

## KARLEEN F. DE BLAKER AS CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT, W. FRED PETTY AS TAX COLLECTOR, and EVERETT S. RICE AS SHERIFF,

Petitioners,

-VS-

### EIGHT IS ENOUGH IN PINELLAS,

Respondent.

### PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

SARAH RICHARDSON Senior Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 319201 Pinellas County Attorney's Office 315 Court Street Clearwater, FL 33756 (727) 464-3354, Telephone (727) 464-4147, Facsimile Attorney for Petitioners

## I.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

### A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal originated from an appeal of a final order of summary judgment entered by the Pinellas County Circuit Court, which held that the Pinellas County Limited Home Rule Charter (hereinafter the "Charter") could be amended by local governmental action (initiative and referendum) to impose term limits on the County Commissioners and the five Constitutional Officers. The case has its roots in <u>Eight is Enough in Pinellas v. Ruggles</u>, 678 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), in which the Second District Court of Appeal (hereinafter the "Second District") upheld the Supervisor of Election's rejection of "expired" petition signatures.

While the 1996 appeal was pending, Eight is Enough in Pinellas, a Political Committee (herein "Respondent" and hereinafter the "Committee") recirculated the petition (R. 14, A. 6)<sup>1</sup> proposing amendments to the Charter, and upon collecting sufficient signatures, submitted them to the Supervisor of Elections (hereinafter the "Supervisor") for certification, pursuant to section 6.02 of the Charter. (R. 31) On or about July 19, 1996, the Supervisor duly certified and verified that the requisite number of signatures of registered electors of Pinellas County had been collected (R. 31), and subsequently, the Board of County Commissioners (hereinafter the "BCC") followed the provisions of section 6.02 of the Charter and placed the question on the ballot at the general election of November 1996; the electorate approved the amendment. (R. 375)

An action was filed by Plaintiff/Appellant-below Clair Johnson (hereinafter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All Record references shall be in the form "(R. \_\_\_\_)," and all documents included in the Appendix accompanying this Brief shall be referenced in the form "(A. \_\_\_\_)."

"Johnson") on July 19, 1996, seeking to enjoin the BCC from placing the proposed Charter amendments on the ballot. (R. 1, 23) On July 31, 1996, the Committee moved to intervene (R. 31). Upon stipulation of the parties, (R. 45), the Court granted the motion on August 28, 1996 (R. 51). After a hearing, the then-officiating Circuit Judge entered a non-final Order dated September 6, 1996, denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying her request for a temporary and a permanent injunction. (R. 199, A. 1)

On September 24 and 30, 1996, the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Property Appraiser, Sheriff, Supervisor of Elections, and Tax Collector (hereinafter collectively the "Constitutional Officers" and "Intervenor Plaintiffs") filed respective Motions to Intervene, (R. 278, 281), which were granted after hearing on October 16, 1996. (R. 364) The Constitutional Officers filed an amended Intervenor Plaintiffs' Complaint on March 21, 1997 (R. 386). Motions for Summary Judgment and Final Judgment were filed by the respective parties in September 1997 (R. 447), and January 1998 (R. 531); a hearing on these Motions was held before the successor Circuit Court Judge on March 13, 1998. (R. 849)

On October 2, 1998, the Circuit Judge denied the Plaintiff's, Intervenor Plaintiffs', and Defendant Pinellas County's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 931).

These parties then filed a Joint Motion for Rehearing and Joint Motion for Clarification on October 14, 1998(R. 933), which was granted on October 27, 1998 (R. 939). The hearing on the rehearing and clarification issues was held on December 18, 1998 (R. 969).

The parties submitted proposed Final Judgments, (R. 941, 942, 944), and on January 26, 1999, the Court entered the Order which was appealed to the Second District. (R. 945, A. 2) The BCC and the five Constitutional Officers filed their Notice of Appeal and Appellant Johnson also filed hers on February 24, 1999. (R. 953, 958) Upon stipulated motion, the Second District consolidated the appeals.

The parties to the appeal below timely submitted briefs. The Second District issued its opinion affirming the Trial Court. <u>Pinellas County v. Eight is Enough in</u> <u>Pinellas</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1201 (Fla. 2d DCA May 19, 2000). (A. 16) On June 1, 2000, Appellant Clair Johnson and the Constitutional Officers filed respective Motions for Rehearing and Motions for Rehearing En Banc. These four motions were denied without opinion by the Second District on August 8, 2000.

On September 7, 2000, three of the Constitutional Officers filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court, followed by their Application for Discretionary Review which was served on September 18, 2000, under Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) and (iii) and 9.120, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court granted the application by Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument dated February 9, 2001. This Initial Brief is filed by two of those Constitutional Officers, specifically the Clerk of the Circuit Court and the Sheriff (also collectively referred to as "Petitioners"), in response to that Order. The third Constitutional Officer, W. Fred Petty, as Tax Collector, was succeeded in office by Diane G. Nelson on January 2, 2001. Concurrently with this Brief, Ms. Nelson is filing a Motion to Withdraw as party to this appeal.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By way of background, the Pinellas County electorate tried twice unsuccessfully to adopt a broad form home rule charter under Chapter 125, in 1973 and 1976. (R. 628-706) In 1980, the Legislature adopted Chapter 80-590, which was approved by the electorate, Code, at CHT:1, editor's note (R. 15), delegating certain powers to the county not contained in Chapter 125, and withholding others inherent in the general law for non-charter and other charter counties. The adoption of this Special Law-created Charter made Pinellas County only the second County with a Charter delegated directly from the Legislature under its constitutional authority; the only other County was and remains Volusia County. All other Florida County charters have been adopted pursuant to Chapter 125 or the Constitution. <u>See Volusia</u> <u>County v. Dickinson</u>, 269 So. 2d 9, 10 (Fla. 1972), Ch. 70-966, Laws of Fla., and Florida Charter Counties Chart (R. 328, A. 5).

The Pinellas County Charter was proposed by a special law of the Legislature, Chapter 80-590, Laws of Florida (R. 719, A. 3), and was approved by a majority of the Pinellas County voters at the October 7, 1980 referendum election (R. 15, A. 4). Pinellas County Code [hereinafter the "Code"], at CHT:1, editor's note. The question on the ballot clearly notified the voters that the Charter granted Pinellas County only limited home rule powers:

Limited Home Rule Charter

Shall the Home Rule Charter of Pinellas County contained in Chapter 80-\_\_\_\_\_, Laws of Florida, which defines the role and responsibilities of the Board of County Commissioners, be approved?

For Home Rule Charter

Against Home Rule Charter

Ch. 80-590, § 4, at 322, Laws of Fla. (R. 728, A. 3) [emphasis added].

The Legislature, through the Charter, established the Commissioners as the only Charter Officers.

The preamble to the original special law discusses the legal authority, powers, duties, and responsibilities

of the Board of County Commissioners only, Ch. 80-590, § 1, at 313, Laws of Fla. (A. 3), which Board

was then comprised of five elected Officers,<sup>2</sup> as defined in Article VIII, section 1(e) of the Florida

Constitution.

In contrast, by express exclusion in sections 2.06 and 4.03 of the Charter, the Legislature, rejected the inclusion of the Constitutional Officers as Charter Officers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The composition of the Board was changed by Charter amendment proposed by the Legislature, Ch. 99-472, Laws of Florida (A. 9), and approved by vote of the electorate at a special election on November 2, 1999. As of the November 2000 election, there are seven members of the Board, three elected at large, four members representing single member districts. (A. 15)

Instead, they preserved their Constitutional autonomy described in Article VIII, section 1(d), Florida Constitution. While many counties' charters govern the offices of some or all of the Constitutional Officers (R. 328, A. 5), this Charter deliberately left the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Property Appraiser, Sheriff, Supervisor of Elections, and Tax Collector to be governed directly by the Constitution and state law. (R. 617-621.)

Additionally, the Charter language as proposed by the Legislature and approved by the voters in 1980, prohibited the exercise of certain powers available to other counties operating under Chapter 125 home rule charters, or in some instances available to non-charter counties operating under Chapter 125. Those Charter limitations include, but are not limited to: § 2.01 (granting the County all "powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, with special law approved by vote of the electors, or with this Charter"); § 2.06 (denying the County the power "under any circumstances, to abolish any municipality or in any manner to change the status, duties, or responsibilities of the County Officers specified in s. 1(d), Art. VIII of the State Constitution"); § 3.01 (requiring that the "[t]he composition, election, term of office and compensation of members" of the Board of County Commissioners shall be governed by general law); 4.03 (preserving the autonomy of the Constitutional Officers as follows: "This document shall in no manner change the status, duties, or responsibilities of the County Officers of Pinellas County: the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Property Appraiser, Tax Collector, Sheriff, and Supervisor of Elections") [emphasis added]. (R. 978-82, A. 4) Thus, the Charter was

"limited" in many respects by the Legislature, which retained these powers.

Amendments to the Charter may be proposed in four different ways, but in all cases the proposed amendments are subject to the approval of a referendum vote of the electorate. Code at CHT:7-9 (R. 21-23, A. 4), and Art. VIII, § 1(g), Fla. Const. The Committee's petition, titled "Pinellas County Charter Amendment Petition Form" (R. 14, A. 6) was promulgated as a citizens' Charter Initiative, the first of its kind under the Charter. Code at CHT:7-8 (A. 4). Section 6.02 of the Charter states that upon the collection of the requisite number of signatures of registered voters, a proposed amendment to the Charter shall be submitted to the BCC, and "shall be subject to referendum at the next scheduled countywide election," unless a special election is called for that purpose. Code at CHT:8.

A second method of amendment proposal is found under section 6.01 of the Charter, by the adoption of an ordinance by the BCC, Code at CHT:7 (A. 4). To date, no amendments to the Charter have been proposed by this method (R. 984-89).

A third method of amendment proposal, by the Charter Review Commission which convenes every six years, is found in section 6.03 of the Charter. Code at CHT:8-9. To date, three amendments have been proposed and two others recommended by the Charter Review Commission ("CRC"). The first amendment was proposed by the CRC in 1984, at its first post-Charter adoption session. It was placed directly on the ballot pursuant to section 6.03(e) of the Charter. Once approved by the voters in November 1984, it revised certain ministerial matters involving reconvening the CRC. Code, at CHT:8-9 & editor's note at 9. (R. 22-23) Two others were proposed by the CRC meeting in 1998, one revising the composition of the CRC under section 6.03(a), and one clarifying the provisions of section 6.02

regarding the life span of petition signatures. (R. 987) These were placed directly on the ballot in November 1998, and were passed by the electorate. (R. 988)

The remaining two amendments recommended by the Charter Review Commission were submitted to the State Legislature after adjournment of the CRC in the summer of 1998. (R. 986-89, A. 4) The resulting special laws, Chapters 99-451 (A. 8) and 99-472 (A. 9), Laws of Florida, demonstrated that those amendments could only be proposed by the fourth method: by the State Legislature as amendments to the original Special Law because they went beyond the home rule powers delegated to Pinellas County (A. 15). In 1988, the Legislature had established the precedent for this action when it proposed the addition of section 2.04(s) to the Charter by a Special Law. Code, at CHT:5, Editor's note (A. 4), referencing Res. 88-496 and Ch. 88-458, Laws of Fla. (A. 7)

Chapter 99-451, Laws of Florida (A. 8), was approved by vote of the electorate at a special election in November 1999, while the appeal was pending below. (A. 15) Through that amendment, a new section 6.04 was added to the Charter, greatly expanding the powers of the County by eliminating the need to return to the Legislature for future amendments, "except for any proposed amendments affecting the status, duties, or responsibilities of the county officers referenced in §§ 2.06 and 4.03 of this Charter. ...." [emphasis added] By this amendment, the Legislature and the electorate again articulated their intention to preserve the County Constitutional Officers as sovereign, non-Charter officers. This special act highlighted the powers the County lacked prior to this amendment. Accordingly, because this powerful amendment (A. 15) in fact has had and will have no impact with respect to the Appellants, and retroactively none on the amendment to section 3.01 of the Charter, except where noted, this brief discusses the Charter

in the textual form as of the time the Committee's amendments were presented to the electorate. (See A.

4)

The Committee's petition (R. 14, A. 6), titled the "Pinellas County Charter Amendment Petition

Form," contained, inter alia, (1) the Ballot Question title and Ballot Question language prescribed by

section 101.161, Florida Statutes, and (2) the full text of the Proposed Amendments to two articles of the

Charter. The amendment to Article IV, § 4.03, proposed to engraft an exception

except that no person may appear on the ballot for re-election to the office of clerk of the court, property appraiser, tax collector, sheriff, or supervisor of elections if, by the end of the current term of office, the person will have served (or, but for resignation, would have served) in that office for eight consecutive years

(R. 14, A. 6) to the preexisting limitation,

[t]his document shall in no manner change the status, duties, or responsibilities of the county officers of Pinellas County: The clerk of the circuit court, property appraiser, tax collector, sheriff, and supervisor of elections. (R. 19-20, A. 4)

Similarly, the amendment to Article III, § 3.01, proposed to engraft the following exception,

except that no person may appear on the ballot for re-election to the office of county commissioner if, by the end of the current term of office the person will have served (or, but for resignation, would have served) in that office for eight consecutive years

(R. 14, A. 6) to the preexisting limitation,

[t]he composition, election, term of office and compensation of members shall all be in accordance with general law. (R. 18, A. 4)

General law does not impose term limits on the office of County Commissioner.

Thus, these amendments attempt to exercise powers preempted to the Legislature, by

amending an exception to an act expressly prohibited by the Legislature.

Significantly, both proposed amendments were contained in a single ballot question, as set forth in the Committee's petition form. (R. 14, A. 6) In addition, absent from the petition form was any severability or savings language which would have alerted voters of the intent to preserve the balance of the charter changes if any portion of those changes was found to be defective.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Pinellas County Home Rule Charter is a limited home rule charter, proposed for adoption by the State Legislature, Ch. 80-590, Laws of Fla., amended by referendum votes in 1984 and in 1998, and by Chs. 88-458, 99-451, and 99-472, Laws of Fla., and approved by respective votes of the electorate. Amendments to the Charter within the bounds of the home rule powers as delegated or limited by the Legislature may be proposed by any of the BCC, citizen initiative, and the CRC, but any other amendments or revisions require additional Legislative delegation of power, as contemplated by Article VIII, section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution.

Specific limitations and exclusions imposed by the Legislature within the Charter require the Legislature's intervention before certain powers may be exercised by the County. The plain language of several sections of the Special Law-created Charter bars the County, whether acting through the BCC, a citizen political committee, or the CRC, from amending the Charter so as to expand the County's power (for example, relating to some matters affecting municipalities and all matters affecting the Constitutional Officers and enumerated boards, authorities, districts, and councils) without prior Legislative action.

The Second District erroneously affirmed the final judgment of the Circuit Court on two fundamental grounds. First, the Court failed to consider the significance of the source of the Charter, specifically a special law approved by vote of the electorate.

Failure to include that fact in its analysis, meant that the Court misconstrued the nature of the powers delegated to the County by that special law, and therefore misapplied the standards in Article VIII, section 1(g), Florida Constitution which require setting aside Committee's amendments the to the Charter. Additionally, Legislature's failure include the to anv limitations on the range of amendments under Article VI of the Charter, which the Second District deemed significant, is irrelevant because limitations on locally initiated amendments were inherent in the express limitations on the Legislature's delegation of Charter powers, and were reserved powers.

Second, the District Court misapprehends that this particular attempted imposition of term limits upon Constitutional Office in Pinellas County, by amendment to the Charter, when none of the Constitutional Officers are Charter Officers, in fact attempts to change the status of the Officers. The Clerk, the Sheriff, and the other Constitutional Officers are not Charter Officers, and it is this status -- the status of Charter versus non-Charter Officers -- that a portion of the Committee's amendment seeks to affect.

The Committee sought to amend section 4.03 of the Charter, ("[t]his document shall in no manner change the status, duties, or responsibilities of the county officers of Pinellas County," specifically the Constitutional Officers), but failed to overcome the remaining limitation in section 2.06 of the Charter, which states in pertinent part that "[t]he county shall not have the power, . . . in any manner to change the status, duties, or responsibilities of the county officers specified in section 1(d), art. VIII of the state constitution."

However, the real error is that section 4.03 of the Charter could not be so amended; the power to establish the Constitutional Officers as Charter Officers was retained by the Legislature, and that limitation was endorsed by voters in 1980 and again in 1999, in sections 2.06 and 4.03.

The Second District's ruling did not reach a third and dispositive issue involving the ballot language. Because the underlying ballot question is defective in at least one respect, and because there was no severability language in either the petition or the question itself, the entire question fails and the amendments to both sections 3.01 and 4.03 of the Charter must fail.

Based on the errors committed by the Trail Court and the District Court, Appellants ask this Court to recognize both the statewide principals posed by county charters and their interplay with the sovereignty of Constitutional Officers, as well as the rather esoteric nature of this case and the limited home rule powers of this unique County Charter. Appellants urge this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's ruling, hold that the Charter amendments were void ab initio, and uphold Appellants' interpretation of the Charter.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### A. APPLICABLE APPELLATE STANDARD OF REVIEW

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