IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KARLEEN F. DeBLAKER, as Clerk of the Circuit Court, W. FRED PETTY, as Tax Collector, EVERETT S. RICE, as Sheriff,

Petitioners,

v. Case No. SC00-1908

EIGHT IS ENOUGH IN PINELLAS, a Political Committee,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Michael S. Hooker
Florida Bar No. 330655
Guy P. McConnell
Florida Bar No. 472697
GLENN RASMUSSEN FOGARTY
& HOOKER, P.A.
Post Office Box 3333
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 229-3333
(813) 229-5946
Attorneys for Respondent Eight is Enough in Pinellas, a Political Committee

March 26, 2001

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Constitution vests charter counties with broad home rule power. Home rule power is the authority to self-govern at the local level, so long as local action is not inconsistent with superior law. Home rule power also flows to a charter county's electorate. Because the County is a charter county, the County and its electorate possess the full range of home rule powers.

Although Petitioners repeatedly have attempted to characterize the County as a unique "limited home rule power" county, this claim finds no support under any applicable law. The Constitution does not recognize a distinction between "broad" and "limited" home rule power counties; it simply provides that counties operating under charters possess home rule power. The County and its electorate acquired the constitutionally authorized home rule power by adopting the Charter. The County thus is a broad home rule power county, not a county possessing only "limited home rule power," as that term has been coined by Petitioners here.

The Amendment properly was enacted in accordance with the County's home rule power and the procedures set forth in the Charter. Because county-level term limits have not been preempted by either the Constitution or other state law and are entirely consistent with superior Florida law, the Amendment is constitutional. All onpoint Florida case law supports the County electorate's authority to implement the Amendment via Charter initiative. Petitioners can point to no countervailing case law expressly holding that charter counties lack the authority to impact constitutionally-created county-level offices via local charter amendment.

Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, the County Officers are not "untouchable" by the electorate merely because their offices are created in the Constitution. Indeed, the home rule power conferred under the Constitution authorizes the local imposition of term limits on these "county" offices. Additionally, the Charter can be amended by locally-initiated action notwithstanding that the Charter was proposed via a special act originated by the Legislature. Equally unfounded are Petitioners' arguments that the Amendment creates inconsistencies within the Charter, that the Amendment alters the "status" of the County Officers, and that the entire Amendment must fall if the Court were to conclude that any part of it is invalid. Simply put, Petitioners fail to assert any legally sustainable argument to justify their position that the Amendment is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because this appeal raises a question of law, the Court's standard of review is "de novo." See, e.g., Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000); Askew v. Firestone, 421 So.2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982). To prevail, Petitioners must overcome a strong and overriding presumption that the Amendment is constitutional. As Florida courts repeatedly have recognized:

In deciding the constitutionality of a charter amendment to a home rule charter, we must presume that it is constitutional and construe it in harmony with the constitution if it is reasonable to do so. (emphasis added)

Charlotte County Board of County Commissioners v. Taylor, 657 So. 2d 146, 148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); see also City of Jacksonville v. Cook, 765 So. 2d 289, 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (there is an overriding presumption that an enactment is constitutional).

- II. THE HOME RULE POWER DOCTRINE AUTHORIZES THE ELECTORATE TO AMEND THE CHARTER TO IMPOSE TERM LIMITS ON COUNTY OFFICERS.
 - A. Home Rule Power Confers to the County the Power to Govern Itself.

Charter counties derive their sovereign powers from Constitution Article VIII, Section 1(g), which states:

Counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors. The governing body of a county

operating under a charter may enact county ordinances not inconsistent with general law.

As explained in Hollywood, Inc. v. Broward County, 431 So. 2d 606, 608 (Fla. 4th DCA), petition denied, 440 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1983), the foregoing constitutional provision vests charter counties with broad home rule power.

Home rule power is the authority to self-govern at the "local" level to the fullest extent possible, so long as the "local" action is not inconsistent with general or special law. See generally Speer v. Olson, 367 So. 2d 207, 211 (Fla. 1978). "General law" operates universally throughout the State and uniformly upon subjects or within a permissible classification. Department of Bus. Reg. V. Classic Mile, Inc., 541 So. 2d 1155, 1157 (Fla. 1989). "Special law" relates to, or is designated to operate upon, particular persons or things, or in a specifically indicated part of the State. Id.

The home rule power doctrine is codified in Chapter 125, Florida Statutes. Section 125.01(1)(w), Florida Statutes, provides that a county's governing body has the power to "[p]erform any other acts not inconsistent with law, which acts are in the common interest of the people of the county, and exercise all powers and privileges not specifically prohibited by law." Section 125.01(3) further provides that this statutory enumeration of powers is neither exclusive nor restrictive, but should be "liberally construed" so as "to secure for the counties the broad exercise of home rule powers authorized by the State Constitution." This Court has concluded that the

legislative intent "in enacting the [then] recent amendment to Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, was to enlarge the powers of counties through home rule to govern themselves." Speer v. Olson, 367 So. 2d 207, 210 (Fla. 1978) (emphasis added). The express objective of home rule power is thus to give localities greater latitude and discretion in the conduct of their own affairs.

The sole impediment to a broad exercise of home rule power is where the proposed action would contravene superior law. As explained in Santa Rosa County v. Gulf Power Co., 635 So 2d 96, 99-100 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 645 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1994), "[t]he only limitation on a county's implied power to act occurs if there is a general or special law clearly inconsistent with the power delegated." See also Rowe v. St. Johns Co., 668 So. 2d 196, 198 (Fla. 1996); Jones v. Chiles, 654 So. 2d 1281, 1284 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 662 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1995). Conversely, if general or special law is silent with respect to a particular subject matter, home rule power can be freely exercised to "fill in the gaps."

The County is a "charter" county possessing broad home rule power. The County electorate conferred home rule power to the County by incorporating the following provision into its Charter:

Sec. 2.01. Powers and Duties.

The county shall have all powers of local self government not inconsistent with general law, with special law approved by vote of the electors, or with this Charter. (R. 16)

Additionally, Charter Section 1.01 specifies that the County "shall have all rights and powers of local self-government which are now or may hereafter be provided by the Constitution and laws of Florida and this Charter " (R. 16) As the Circuit Court aptly stated, "the voters of Pinellas County conferred all of the powers a Florida charter can have " (R. 204) (emphasis added); see, e.g., Hollywood, Inc. v. Broward County, 431 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 4th DCA), petition denied, 440 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1983) (holding that virtually identical charter enabling language conferred broad home rule power to the chartered county).

Home rule power flows not only to a county's governing body, but also to its electorate.² In Charlotte County Board of County Commissioners v. Taylor, 650 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), the court applied the home rule power doctrine to a charter amendment launched, as here, "through the initiative process contained in the charter " 650 So.2d at 147. Although disallowing the amendment in question under the peculiar facts of that case, the court recognized that the home rule power doctrine governs charter amendments. The court proceeded to apply "classic" home rule analysis to determine the amendment's validity:

In deciding the constitutionality of a charter amendment to a home rule charter, we must presume that it is constitutional and construe it in harmony with the constitution if it is reasonable to do so. [citation omitted]. The amendment to the charter is only invalid if it is inconsistent with general law, i.e., contradictory in the sense of legislative provisions which cannot coexist. [citation omitted]. 650 So. 2d at 148 (emphasis added).

In the present case, Petitioners have sought to characterize the County as a singularly unique governmental entity possessing only "limited" home rule powers. See Pinellas County, 775 So. 2d at 319. This rather bizarre claim is premised on the electorate's supposed adoption of a new species of charter that putatively proscribes the County's exercise of home rule powers. Petitioners' self-serving attempt to "manufacture" a new breed of charter creating circumscribed home rule power is logically unsupportable and completely without any legal precedent.

The authority cited by Petitioners for the proposition that the local electorate's power extends no further than the power of the local governing body merely stands for the unremarkable proposition that neither a local governing body nor the electorate can "legislate" beyond the scope of home rule power. As <u>Gaines v. City of Orlando</u>, 450 So. 1174 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), recognizes, the electorate and the local governing body clearly can legislate if their actions are within home rule power bounds—that is, are not inconsistent with superior Florida law.

The Constitution provides absolutely no support for, and in fact refutes, Petitioners' creation of a limited home rule power charter. Article VIII, Section (1)(g), states that "counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors." No distinction is made between "broad" home rule charters and "limited" home rule charters, or counties possessing "broad" versus limited home rule power. Rather, the Constitution simply provides that charter counties possess home rule power.

Consistent with the Constitution, both the Charter and the operative ballot language utilized in the Charter's adoption designate the Charter as a "home rule charter." The Charter's preamble provides in pertinent part:

Whereas, the only legal method available to the Board of County Commissioners to define its powers, duties, and responsibilities under the Constitution of the State of Florida is the adoption of a home rule charter. (R. 16) (emphasis added).

Similarly, the Charter's ballot question asked:

Shall the Home Rule Charter of Pinellas County contained in Chapter 80—, Laws of Florida, which defines the role and responsibilities of the Board of County Commissioners, be approved?

For Home Rule Charter.

Against Home Rule Charter. (Initial Brief, p. 5) (emphasis added).

In short, neither the preamble nor the ballot language referred to the Charter as a "limited" home rule charter, even assuming, arguendo, that the Constitution authorizes a limited home rule charter or a limited home rule power county. ³

The fallacy of Petitioners' position that the Charter conveyed only "limited" home rule power is further underscored by the Charter itself. Article V, Section 5.02(c), provides that "the powers granted by this Charter shall be construed liberally in favor of the county government," and further that "the powers in this Charter shall not be construed as limiting, in any way, the general or specific powers of the

Ironically, Petitioners' reference to the County's two failed charter efforts before adoption of the Charter may explain the ballot title language, but not in the way Petitioners contend. These prior proposals would have made more sweeping changes in the structure of the County's government than made by the 1980 version of the Charter. (R. 628-706) The reference to "limited" in the 1980 ballot title obviously was for the purpose of advising the voters that the 1980 proposal effected fewer changes in the structure of the County's existing local government than the previous proposals. The title does not indicate that the County was restricting its home rule power in any way.

Petitioners erroneously rely on the ballot <u>title</u> to argue that the Charter is a special limited home rule charter. (Initial Brief, pp. 5, 28) However, the ballot title has no legal effect whatsoever on the construction and interpretation of the Charter. As even Petitioners concede, the County's authority is established by the four corners of the Charter document itself. (Initial Brief, p. 21). Also, as a matter of law, the ballot title is not binding as to the enactment's meaning. <u>Carter v. Government Employees Insurance Company</u>, 377 So. 2d 242, 243 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), <u>cert. denied</u>, 389 So. 2d 1108 (Fla. 1980) (a title's primary purpose is to give notice of the provision's subject matter). Thus, whether labeled as a "limited home rule charter" or a "broad home rule charter," the ballot title has no impact on determining the power granted to the County. The scope of the County's power turns on what the Charter and other Florida law provides.

government." (R. 20) (emphasis added). These provisions are completely inconsistent with any notion that the Charter was somehow "limiting."

Indeed, the specific Charter sections that grant home rule power, including Sections 1.01 and 2.01, are virtually identical to the empowerment provisions contained in the two earlier failed County charter proposals that even Petitioners concede conveyed broad home rule powers. (Initial Brief, p. 4) Section 1.01 of both the first and second failed proposals were identical to Charter Section 1.01, providing that the County would "have all rights and powers of local self-government which are now or may hereafter be provided by the Constitution and the Laws of Florida and this Charter." (R. 16; 629; 645) Section 2.01 of the first failed proposal was substantially the same as the Charter Section 2.01, providing that the "County shall have all general powers and duties not inconsistent with this Charter now or hereafter granted by law." (R. 629) Section 2.01 of the second failed proposal was identical to Charter Section 2.01, providing that the "County shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, with special law approved by vote of the electors, or with this Charter." (R. 16; 646) Petitioners have maintained that these two previous charter proposals would have accorded the County broad home rule power (Initial Brief, p. 4) Because the 1980 Charter contained the same grant of power as was conferred in the previous two proposals, the 1980 Charter necessarily also conveyed broad home rule powers.

The fundamental flaw with Petitioners' position is that they are attempting to equate the County's apparent historical tendency not to fully exercise every conceivable power available under the Constitution with a grant of something less than full home rule power when the Charter was initially adopted. The mere fact that the County has chosen to launch certain Charter amendments via resort to the Charter Review Commission or the Legislature does not mean that those same amendments could not have been undertaken by the electorate via Charter initiative. The Constitution unambiguously provides that the County, as a charter county, possesses home rule power, not "limited" home rule power. The electorate thus can amend the Charter by the initiative process in any manner whatsoever, so long as the amendment does not contravene prior superior law. Simply because the County has not always opted to exercise its power to amend via Charter initiative does not indicate that the power is nonexistent. The Charter does not limit the County's home rule power; the County merely has not historically invoked the full range of home rule powers available to it.

As the District Court correctly held, there is no constitutionally recognized classification of a "limited home rule" charter. Constitution Article VIII and Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, empower charter counties and their electorates to provide themselves with the full range of home rule powers available under Florida law. The only restriction on the home rule power available to a charter county is where a general or special law exists that is clearly inconsistent with the local action. The Charter at issue in the present case confers broad home rule power, and as

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